FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIANNE MONTLER, Respondent/Cross Appellant,

v.

### FIRST AMERICAN PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant/Cross Respondents

Clark County Case No. 18-2-05942-2 Court of Appeals Case No. 39497-2-III

-----

### AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENT AND CROSS APPELLANT MARIANNE MONTLER

-----

Calvin P. "Kelly" Vance WSB 29520 Vance Law Offices 1066 S. Breezy Way

Post Falls, ID 83854 moldlawyer@aol.com 208-262-8115

Attorney for Plaintiff/Cross Appellant

###

#### 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a first party insurance claim arising from an upstairs toilet overflow in Plaintiff's residence on October 17, 2017. The water migrated downstairs into area directly beneath the upstairs bathroom. RP p. 275/line 25 – 276/line 12. Plaintiff reported the damage. Defendant contracted with Crawford & Company which dispatched Josh Peters, an independent insurance adjuster, to inspect the damage. Peters made a number of reports to Defendant, all identifying the **cause of loss** as "toilet overflow." CP Ex. 111, 112, 113, 127, 146, and 149. Defendant also identified the cause of loss as a "Water leak in the bathroom." Ex. 26.

The walls and downstairs flooring directly beneath the upstairs bathroom later evidenced toxic mold. CP Ex. 5 and

Ex.19, pp. 5-7. RP p. 363/line 23- page 364/line 5 and RP p. 624/line 25 to p. 625/lines 3-20. Plaintiff engaged a public adjuster, Adam Blagg, and an environmental expert, Jason Kester, to evaluate the house. Kester and Blagg investigated the damage together. Blagg testified at trial:

A. I tracked the water. It was pretty obvious where it went upstairs. You can see staining that leaves – especially when it sits for as long as it did. You can see staining. You can see where it went, ran down to the walls, ceilings, went downstairs, tracked it there."

RP p. 624/line 25 to p. 625/line 3- 20. Blagg testified that he found black mold inside the wall cavity downstairs. RP p. 628/lines 3- 18. RP p. 635/line 2 - 636/line 16.

Mr. Kester testified there was really no doubt that the mold was growing from the **recent** water event, not an unrelated event two years before. Mr. Kester explained that for these molds to grow, there needed to be a very high and **recent** water concentration in the tested area.

A. "Sure, Chaetomium is a mold ... that needs an elevated content of about 95 percent or higher to be actively growing.... So in this case, ... there is a likely – a likely activity at that site which would mean that it is actively wet and continuing to grow."

RP p 346, line 20 to p. 348 line21.(Emphasis added).

- Q. "Does Chaetomium appear in a dry substrate or does it need to be very wet as you just indicated?"
- A. "It needs to be wet."
- Q. "So currently wet?"
- A. "Correct. To create to have the mycelial numbers that we found in the lab sampling, it has to be wet currently."

\*\*\*

#### "And that the material is actively wet."

RP p. 350 lines 6 – 12.RP p. 353 line 22- page 354 line 9.

Mr. Kester went on to say that the other mold he found needs an even wetter substrate:

"Stachy actually needs an elevated moisture content on a given material of 98 percent or higher to grow."

RP p. 355/ lines 1- 5. Mr. Kester eliminated any older cause for the mold growth:

- Q. "Okay.... is it more likely than not that you found this mold because of a current and active wetting and not from an old water exposure from, say, 2015?"
- A. "So based on the mold sample results from Hayes Microbial, it indicates an active source."

RP p. 359/line1 p. 360/line 8.

Crawford estimate the cost to repair damage. Defendant's preferred provider, Belfor USA, refused to do the work for the Crawford's estimate. RP p. 300/line 9-10, p. 301/line 20-22.

Blagg estimated the damage as being far above the Crawford estimate. Because the parties disagreed about the amount of loss, Plaintiff demanded an appraisal under the mandatory appraisal provision in her policy. CP Ex. 4. She appointed Blagg as her appraiser. Defendant refused to pay Blagg's estimate and refused to submit to appraisal. CP Ex. 6, p. 17. Plaintiff filed suit on 7/23/2018. CP.

Defendant initially paid for alternative quarters for Plaintiff under the Loss of Use or additional living expenses ("ALE") coverage, but soon said it was cutting off ALE benefits, even though it had not paid to remediate the mold.

Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel Appraisal and Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment on 2/20/2019 seeking extended

ALE benefits because Defendant refused to pay to restore the house to where it was "fit to live in." CP. Defendant opposed both motions.

On June 7, 2019, Judge Veljacic heard both motions. In an effort to justify cutting off ALE, defense counsel said that the insurer's hygienist found **no mold in the house**.

Mr. May: "Yes. Mr. Vance is incorrect. We did hire an industrial hygienist who went out – from Rimkus, who inspected the loss on May 8, 2018. And the Rimkus industrial hygienist found – it [sic] did mold testing and found no mold within the house." (Emphasis added).

RP June 7, 2019 hearing at pp. 31-32. Plaintiff rebutted with the Kester report. CP Ex. 5 and 19. After hearing from both sides, Judge Veljacic stated:

"I'm going to rule. So I'm going to order that benefits continue, because **there appears to be at**  this point a material breach with regard to the appraisal provision and I can't in good conscience let what appears to be dilatory behavior on the part of FA then benefit FA in terms of being able to cut off benefits to Ms. Montler. That would be unconscionable."

RP Hearing on June 7, 2019 at page 39. A written order was later issued.<sup>1</sup>

Judge Veljacic appointed retired Superior Court Judge Roger Bennett to preside as Appraisal Umpire. Defendant appointed an appraiser, Roger Howson, who worked with Blagg on prior appraisals. As usual, the appraisers worked off Blagg's preliminary estimate to remove errors, duplications and unrelated damage. RP p. 645/line 16 – p. 646/line 7. 2

\_\_\_\_

<sup>1</sup> Defendant later tried three times to cut off the benefits. Ex 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Despite Blagg's testimony that his initial estimate is only a preliminary worksheet, which Howson acknowledged, the trial judge criticized Blagg for having submitted an estimate that was higher than the final awards. Blagg testified that this is how appraisal is done. The trial judge ignored this testimony.

There had been a prior water event in 2015. Plaintiff testified she paid to remove the mold. RP 434/ line 25 - p. 437/line11. She testified that she and her children were hypersensitive to mold but, because she had removed all the mold, they lived in the house without any health problems for two years until the October 17, 2017 toilet overflow. RP 436/line19 - 437/line 11.

Mr. Peters admitted in his testimony that he saw where previous repairs had been made across the hall from the 2017 damage and reported the 2017 water damage beneath the upstairs bathroom as "new damage." RP p. 824 line 10- page 825 line 24.

Blagg testified that Judge Bennett directed the panel to focus solely on the damage from the October 17, 2017 toilet overflow. Blagg recounted that Judge Bennett fashioned the two Appraisal Awards to show that the awards addressed damage solely from the October 17, 2017 overflow by placing the 2017 claim number and date of loss of October 17, 2017

event. *Id.* CP Ex. 10. The appraisal panel thus arrived at an **agreed and unanimous** valuation for the October 17, 2017 water and mold damage. Judge Bennett filed the appraisal awards with the Superior Court. *Id.* 

Defendant's policy has a Loss Payment provision which states:

- "Loss will be payable 30 days after we receive your proof of loss and:
- 1. Reach an agreement with you;
- 2. There is an entry of a final judgment; or
- 3. There is a filing of an appraisal award with us."

CP Ex 6, p. 18. (Emphasis added).

In an email to Defendant's appraiser, Mr. Howson, defense counsel admitted:

"Appraisal decides how much First American owes to the Montlers. You might want to remind Mr. Blagg that the "Loss Payment" clause states that the amount of loss is determined in one of three ways: 1) agreement, 2) judgment or 3) appraisal." (Emphasis added)."

CP Ex. 264, p. 2.

This statement was an admission that Defendant knew it

was obligated to pay the appraisal awards. The trial judge disregarded the admission and the Court of Appeals did so as well.

Plaintiff moved to confirm the appraisal awards and, in a hearing on May 8, 2020, Judge Veljacic reiterated his finding that Defendant had been dilatory throughout the case and had wrongly refused to submit to the appraisal process mandated in the policy:

"There has been delay throughout this case on the part of First American – significant delay which, on a case where there's essentially admitted liability, it's – I don't know that that's exactly precise, but there's agreed coverage and a contractual provision regarding mandatory appraisal, which is in First American's contract, which they drafted. And a refusal to engage in that. And so I am mindful of those issues, and I'm considering those. . . ." (Empasis added).

RP p. 77/Line 1 - p. 78/line 23.

Judge Veljacic confirmed the Awards and stated the amount of damage he was confirming:

"Today, I don't think it's out of line for me to confirm those appraisal awards. Those are filed September 12, 2019. They're entitled "Agreed **Appraisal of Loss."** They're performed by our umpire, retired judge - Superior Court Judge Roger Bennett, appointed by this Court. They list the dwelling replacement cost value at – well, they speak for themselves. \$128,742.70. And replacement of the contents, 68,232.17. And the permits and fees, \$1,500. And so those are the values. I'm confirming that that's been completed – that those values are agreed.... And so I believe I'm on firm ground in confirming that those are the values. So that document speaks for itself. I'm confirming it today. I'll entertain an order to that effect.... I've ordered it. It was done. I'm confirming that work." (Emphasis added).

RP p. 77/Line 1 - p. 78/line 23.

Judge Veljacic was soon after elevated to the Court of Appeals. The new trial judge refused to respect Judge Veljacic's findings and legal rulings on both June 7, 2019 and May 8, 2020. She ignored the admissions in the Crawford adjuster's reports that the toilet overflow was the cause of damage, Mr. Blagg's testimony that the appraisal panel had awarded only the damage caused by the October 17, 2017 toilet overflow and that he traced the water stains to where Mr. Kester

found the mold. She distorted Kester's trial testimony, concluding that he did not link the 2017 overflow as causing the mold growth when he actually rejected any other cause.

The Court of Appeals, adopted this same flawed approach and also ignored defense counsel's admissions on pages 2 and 3 of his trial brief that the 2015 water loss was "unrelated" to the October 2017 toilet overflow and that this case only involved the 2017 water loss. CP (3/1/2021 and 7/26/2021. The court also ignored Mr. Peters admission when he testified at trial that he reported the 2017 damage as "new damage." RP p. 824 line 10- page 825 line 24.

The Court of Appeals adopted the trial court's finding that the toilet overflow did not cause the mold growth on the floor beneath the upstairs bathroom, despite Kester's testimony there was no other source of water necessary for mold to grow and Plaintiff's testimony that she removed all prior mold in 2015. CP 8/30/2021, Order.

Despite having a unanimous Mold Appraisal Award, which had been confirmed by Judge Veljacic, both courts denied this homeowner a judgment even after Judge Veljacic confirmed the Mold Appraisal Award and stated the amount of damages he was confirming. Both courts refused to follow settled appellate decisions such as *Keesling v. Western Firs Ins.*Co. of Fort Scott, Kansas, 10 Wn App 841, 845, 520 P2d 622 (1974) and Goldstein v. National Fire Ins. Co., 106 Wash. 346, 353, 180 P. 409 (1919).

Both courts also ignored the policy's Loss Payment

Provision, as well as defense counsel's admission to Mr.

Howson that the appraisal award determines what Defendant

"owes the Montlers."

The Court of Appeals held that Ms. Montler was not a prevailing party entitled to an attorney fee award, even though Plaintiff had recovered tens of thousands of dollars in Loss of Use (ALE) benefits after obtaining Partial Summary Judgment,

in June 2019. CP Order dated 6/18/2019. 3

The Court of Appeals panel cited *New York life Ins. Co. v Mitchell*, 1 Wn 3d 545, 528 P3d 1269 (2023), as saying denial of attorney fees is justified when a policyholder does not recover the "full" benefits they seek. The case says nothing of the kind. It was a case involving life insurance, not a property damage claim. What's more, it mentioned the *Olympic Steamship* case as not requiring prevailing party status as a condition precedent to an attorney fee award to a policyholder.

#### **5.**ARGUMENT

Petitioner respectfully requests that review be accepted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with prior decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court said Plaintiff was undamaged by Defendant's resisting appraisal, ignoring that Plaintiff and her children were displaced from their home and forced to live in a hotel, then an unfurnished apartment without their personal belongings for several years as a result of the insurer's dilatoriness. Judge Veljacic understood the reality of the situation and issued confirmation of the damages agreed to by Defendant.

Appeals. Moreover, the public regularly faces insurance losses and this case involves an issue of substantial public interest tat the appraisal process be respected.

## Issue 1: The Court of Appeals Decision Is Contrary to Prior Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals on Appraisal.

For well over a century, appraisal provisions have been "universally held to be valid and enforceable." See *Goldstein v. National Fire Ins. Co.*, 106 Wash. 346, 180 P. 409 (1919). The trial court and Court of Appeals failed to enforce the Mold Appraisal Award issued by the appraisal panel, even though it was unanimous and agreed to by the insurer. These courts had a duty to enforce the Mold Appraisal Award and not interfere with the work of the appraisal panel.

In Keesling v. Western Firs Ins. Co. of Fort Scott,

Kansas, 10 Wn App 841, 847, 520 P2d 622 (1974), the court

stated "if the company does not pay the damages fixed by the
appraisers, an insured must commence legal action, the

appraisal must be confirmed by the court and judgment entered for the insured." (Emphasis added).

Appraisal awards are conclusive and binding. *Bainter v. United Pac. Ins.* Co., 50 Wn. App. 242, 246, 748 P.2d 260 (1988). A court has authority to deny enforcement of an appraisal award only when there has been fraud or misconduct during the appraisal. *Goldstein, supra.* 

## **Issue 2: The Court of Appeals Failed to Properly Apply the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule.**

The trial court and Court of Appeals committed legal error by failing to properly apply the "efficient proximate cause rule" cited by Plaintiff. CP 8/2/2021 and Closing 8/13/2021.

The rule provides that if the event triggering a chain of events is a covered cause of damage, all ensuing damage is also covered, even if it would otherwise be excluded, but for the triggering event. Here, Defendant's adjuster sent numerous reports to Defendant, all of which identified the cause of loss as the "toilet overflow." CP Ex. 111, 112, 113, 127, 146, and 149, Ex. 26.

Both courts noted that Defendant accepted coverage and paid

some of the damages, but refused to apply the doctrine followed in *Pluta v USAA*, 72 Wash.App. 902, 866 P.2d 690 (1994) and *Graham v. Public Employees Mut. Ins. Co.*, 98 Wash.2d 533, 656 P.2d 1077 (1983), where the court stated the rule:

'Where a peril specifically insured against sets other causes in motion ... the insured peril is regarded as the "proximate cause" of the entire loss. . . .

Thus, when the "efficient proximate cause" of a loss is an event which is expressly covered by the insurance policy, the insured is entitled to benefits, even if there are subsequent events which are specifically excluded from coverage." (Citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals erred by failing to follow the efficient proximate cause rule.

## <u>Issue 3. The Court of Appeals, Erred in Concluding</u> <u>Defendant Did not Breach the Policy</u>

# Issue 4. The Court of Appeals Erred By Denying Plaintiff Attorney Fees under RCW 48.30.015 and Olympic Steamship

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, erred as a matter of law in refusing to respect Judge Veljacic's June 7, 2019 and May 8, 2020 findings that Defendant materially breached the

policy by refusing to submit to appraisal and was dilatory in delaying appraisal. The Court of Appeals' finding that

Defendant did not breach the policy appraisal provision is an obvious error of law. Appraisal is mandatory when one of the parties demand it and there are no grounds for refusing anywhere in the policy.

The Court of Appeals tried to make an end run on Judge Veljacic's findings by opining that Plaintiffs suffered no damages from Defendant's failure to submit to appraisal, ignoring that Judge Veljacic confirmed the specific damages agreed to in appraisal. RP p. 77/Line 1 – p. 78/line 23.

On a claim of this type, delay itself, is damage, especially when a family is displaced from their home.<sup>4</sup> Plaintiff's trial testimony about the trauma and inconvenience from having to live in a hotel room and unfurnished apartment over many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under this tortured logic, both courts reasoned that, since damage is an element of breach of contract, if they found a "no damage" it meant they could say there was no breach.

months fell on deaf ears. RP 423. The court ignored the family being displaced from their home and personal possessions, denied fair compensation for their contaminated contents and the financial stress placed on Plaintiff from having to pay for a house they could not live in. See also RP 421/lines 11-17 and RP 423 - 424. These courts wrongly adopted a "no harm, no foul" approach to the case solely to circumvent Judge Veljacic's rulings.

As Judge Veljacic noted on May 8, 2020, these appraisal awards were **agreed to by Defendant** <sup>5</sup> and there was **agreed coverage.** Judge Veljacic was on firm ground in finding the Awards were agreed. Defendant's own appraiser signed off on them and defense counsel admitted that: "Appraisal decides how much First American **owes to the Montlers**." Ex. 264, p.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Appraisal Awards were, in fact, unanimous and signed by both parties. Ex. 11.

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, also erred as a matter of law by refusing to follow the mandatory rule of RCW 48.30.015(3) stating that a trial court **shall** award attorney fees when a finding of an IFCA violation has occurred. The statute provides in relevant part:

"Unreasonable denial of a claim for coverage or payment of benefits.

- (1) Any first party claimant to a policy of insurance who is unreasonably denied a claim for coverage or payment of benefits by an insurer may bring an action in the superior court of this state to recover the actual damages sustained, together with the costs of the action, including reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation costs, as set forth in subsection (3) of this section.
- (2) The superior court may, after finding that an insurer has acted unreasonably in denying a claim for coverage or payment of benefits or has violated a rule in subsection (5) of this section, increase the total award of damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> These findings should have been respected even if he did not get around to issuing a written order before he was promoted to Division II.

- (3) The superior court shall, after a finding of unreasonable denial of a claim for coverage or payment of benefits, or after a finding of a violation of a rule in subsection (5) of this section, award reasonable attorneys' fees and actual and statutory litigation costs, including expert witness fees, to the first party claimant of an insurance contract who is the prevailing party in such an action.
- (4) "First party claimant" means an individual, corporation, association, partnership, or other legal entity asserting a right to payment as a covered person under an insurance policy or insurance contract arising out of the occurrence of the contingency or loss covered by such a policy or contract.
- (5) A violation of any of the following is a violation for the purposes of subsections (2) and (3) of this section:
- (a) WAC 284-30-330, captioned "specific unfair claims settlement practices defined...." (Emphasis added).

WAC 284-30-330 provides, in pertinent part:

"Specific unfair claims settlement practices defined.

The following are hereby defined as unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices of the insurer in the business of insurance, specifically applicable to the settlement of claims:

\* \* \* \*

(2) Failing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under insurance policies

\* \* \* \*

(7) Compelling a first party claimant to initiate or submit to litigation, arbitration, or appraisal to recover amounts due under an insurance policy by offering substantially less than the amounts ultimately recovered in such actions or proceedings.

\* \* \* \*

#### (17) Delaying appraisals . . . . "

The courts opined that Judge Veljacic did not grant summary judgment and was deferring the damage issue for trial. Judge Veljacic's actual comments show he was deferring the question whether to award treble damages:

"There has been delay throughout this case on the part of First American – significant delay which, on a case where there's essentially admitted liability, it's – I don't know that that's exactly precise, but there's agreed coverage and a contractual provision regarding mandatory appraisal, which is in First American's contract, which they drafted. And a refusal to engage in that. And so I am mindful of those issues, and

I'm considering those. . . . " (Empasis added).

RP p.  $77/Line\ 1 - p.\ 78/line\ 23$ .

Judge Veljacic's findings on June 7, 2019 and May 8,

2020 are essentially findings Defendant violated the Fair

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