FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/8/2023 3:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102421-5

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIANNE MONTLER, Respondent/Cross Appellant

v.

FIRST AMERICAN PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE CO., Appellant/Cross Respondent

FIRST AMERICAN PROPERTY & CASUALTY
INSURANCE CO.'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT/CROSS
APPELLANT MARIANNE MONTLER'S
AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert S. May, WSBA No. 36116 Rmay@kilmerlaw.com Holly E. Pettit, WSBA No. 46424 Hpettit@kilmerlaw.com Kilmer, Voorhees, and Laurick, PC 2701 NW Vaughn Street, Suite 780 Portland, Oregon 97210 503-224-0055

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Issue 1: The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent With Washington Case Law Regarding Appraisal.

Plaintiff argues that the Court of Appeals "failed to enforce the Mold Appraisal Award," in conflict with Washington case law holding that appraisal provisions are valid, enforceable, and binding unless a party cannot show bias or prejudice in the appraisal process. The Court of Appeals' decision, however, conflicts with no Washington case law or other authority.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the appraisal panel had specifically bifurcated the appraisal award into two separate awards (one for water damage and one for mold damage), in recognition of First American's objections that the mold damage was not caused by the covered water loss event.

Opinion, p. 28. The Court of Appeals also recognized that

Judge Veljacic expressly did not decide the ongoing causation/coverage dispute when he entered a limited confirmation of the appraisal awards. Opinion, p. 28.⁴ The Court of Appeals correctly confirmed that the trial court's finding that the appraisal award <u>did not</u> decide the disputed coverage issues was supported by substantial evidence.

Opinion, p. 28.

Washington case law establishes that "[t]he authority and control over the ultimate disposition of the subject matter [of an appraisal] remains with the courts." *Keesling v. W. Fire Ins. Co. of Fort Scott, Kansas*, 10 Wn. App. 841, 845, 520 P.2d 622 (1974); *see also Mercer Int'l, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 938 F. Supp. 680, 683 (W.D. Wash. 1996) (denying a motion to

⁴ See, e.g., RP 78, lns 16-18 (Judge Veljacic's statement that "I will not speak as to the legal effect of this confirmation. I understand that to be in dispute. ... I don't know that I'm required to speak to the legal effect of that at this point.").

compel appraisal and stating that "an appraisal now would be useless" because the parties contract dispute needed to be resolved first, to "set the parameters for an appraisal").

The trial court correctly ruled that disputed coverage issues needed to be resolved before the appraisal awards could be enforced, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed that ruling, Opinion, p. 28. Plaintiff does not demonstrate any Washington case law or authority that requires a different result. Supreme Court review of this issue is not warranted.

Issue 2: The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled that the Efficient Proximate Cause Rule Does Not Apply.

Plaintiff contends that the Court of Appeals' confirmation that the efficient proximate cause rule does not apply, Opinion, p. 27, was "legal error." Plaintiff is wrong.

The efficient proximate cause rule provides

"where a peril specifically insured against sets other causes in motion which, in an unbroken sequence and connection between the act and final loss, produce the result for which recovery is sought, the insured peril is regarded as the proximate cause of the entire loss, even though

other events within the chain of causation are excluded from coverage."

Wright v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 124 Wn. App. 263, 273–74, 109 P.3d 1 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). In this matter, however, the trial court found that the covered water loss event did not cause the mold damage or set that damage into motion. The Court of Appeals confirmed that substantial evidence supported the trial court's conclusion. Opinion, pp. 24-27. There is no predicate for application of the efficient proximate cause rule, in the light of the facts established at trial.

Plaintiff shows no "legal error" and no justification for Supreme Court review of this issue.

Issue 3: The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled that First American Did Not Breach the Insurance Contract.

At the Court of Appeals, First American argued that the trial court erred in ruling that First American had breached the insurance contract by objecting to appraisal, because (1) the coverage and causation issues should have been decided before the parties, trial court, and appraisal panel wasted time

appraising damages that were not covered by the policy and (2) there was no breach of contract, as a matter of law, because plaintiff had suffered no damages. The Court of Appeals agreed with First American's second argument (and declined to address the first argument). Opinion, p. 33.

The trial court determined that First American had fully compensated plaintiff for damages covered by the insurance policy, before the appraisal. Therefore, plaintiff suffered no damages as a result of any delay in the appraisal. Generally, damages are a necessary element in a breach of contract claim. Opinion, p. 33. See DC Farms, LLC v. Conagra Foods Lamb Weston, Inc., 179 Wn. App. 205, 227, 317 P.3d 543 (2014) ("In suits for money damages for breach of contract a court may dismiss a breach of contract action if damages have not been suffered."); Myers v. State, 152 Wn. App. 823, 218 P.3d 241 (2009) (stating that the elements of a breach of contract claim are "(1) a contract that imposed a duty, (2) breach of that duty, and (3) an economic loss as a result of the breach."). Because

there were no damages, plaintiff's breach of contract claim failed as a matter of law; the trial court erred in ruling otherwise. Opinion, p. 33.

Plaintiff makes no effort to show why review of this issue is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). Instead, she argues that she <u>did</u> suffer damages, because she and her family were displaced from her home and their personal property was damaged by mold. Plaintiff's argument, however, requires this Court to ignore the trial court's finding that the mold damage in the home <u>was not caused by</u> the covered water loss event. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court's conclusion was supported by substantial evidence. Opinion, pp. 25-26.

Regardless of whether plaintiff felt displaced and harmed by moving out of her home, First American's handling of plaintiff's insurance claim was not the cause of that harm. In fact, First American paid approximately \$150,000 in ALE benefits for plaintiff's alternative living arrangements—benefits

that plaintiff was not ultimately entitled to receive. First

American has not sought reimbursement of those ALE benefits.

Plaintiff's alleged damages were simply not caused by any

breach of First American's duties to plaintiff. The Court of

Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's ruling that First

American had breached the insurance contract.

Plaintiff does not demonstrate that the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the trial court's breach of contract ruling and does not demonstrate any grounds for Supreme Court review of the Court of Appeals' ruling on that issue.

Issue 4: The Court of Appeals Correctly Reversed the Trial Court's Award of Attorney Fees to Plaintiff.

Despite finding that plaintiff was not the prevailing party, the trial court awarded plaintiff attorney fees pursuant to *Olympic Steamship* for prevailing on her motion, prior in the litigation, to compel appraisal and continue ALE benefits. First American argued to the Court of Appeals that the trial court

erred in awarding plaintiff any attorney fees. The Court of Appeals agreed and reversed that ruling. Opinion, p. 36.⁵

Olympic Steamship held that an award of attorney fees "is required in any legal action where the insurer compels the insured to assume the burden of legal action, to obtain the full benefit of his insurance contract." 117 Wn.2d at 53. In this matter, however, plaintiff was not compelled to assume the burden of legal action to obtain the full benefits of her policy. Instead, First American had already paid plaintiff the full amount of benefits to which she was entitled, prior to plaintiff's legal action.

As the Court of Appeals confirmed, all of plaintiff's claims—including breach of contract—failed as a matter of fact and law. Plaintiff was not the prevailing party on any claim and, therefore, was not entitled to attorney fees. *See United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v. Speed*, 179 Wn.App. 184, 204,

⁵ The Court of Appeals ruling was not "sua sponte," as plaintiff contends. Amended Petition for Review, p. 28.

18 – FIRST AMERICAN PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE CO.'S ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

٠

317 P.3d 532, 543 (2014) (denying the insured's request for fees pursuant to *Olympic Steamship* because the insured was not the prevailing party); *Humleker v. Gallagher Bassett Servs. Inc.*, 159 Wn. App. 667, 686, 246 P.3d 249,258 (2011) (same).

Plaintiff's attempt to argue that New York Life Ins. Co. v. Mitchell, 1 Wn.3d 545, 528 P.3d 1269 (2023), supports her position is ineffectual. In New York Life Ins., this Court noted that decisions following Olympic Steamship had granted fees only when the insured was the prevailing party. Id. at 570. The Court declined to award fees, because the insured "had not prevailed in this court." Id. Likewise, plaintiff did not prevail on any claim in this litigation. As in New York Life Ins. Co. v. Mitchell, there are no grounds for awarding fees to plaintiff in this matter.

The fact that plaintiff prevailed on an intermediary motion does not entitle her to attorney fees for ultimately unsuccessful claims. As the Court of Appeals stated, plaintiff "won the battle and lost the war." Opinion, p. 38. Plaintiff does not demonstrate that the Court of Appeals erred in making that

ruling and does not show any grounds for Supreme Court review of that decision.

Plaintiff also argues that the Court of Appeals should have reversed the trial court's decision not to award any attorney fees pursuant to IFCA. Plaintiff did not prevail on her IFCA claim, however. The fact that Judge Veljacic made oral comments regarding delay, during a hearing on an intermediate ruling, does not make plaintiff the prevailing party on her IFCA claim. Instead, the trial court specifically ruled that plaintiff failed to establish her IFCA claim. CP 2342, 1.

Again, plaintiff fails to demonstrate any error in the Court of Appeals' decision or any reason why this Court should review the rulings by the trial court and Court of Appeals declining to award attorney fees under IFCA.

Issue 5: The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled that First American Had Not "Admitted" Causation and Coverage.

Plaintiff next argues that First American and its agents "admitted" and agreed that the mold damage was covered by the insurance policy. This assertion is contrary to the arguments

in all of First American's trial court briefings and arguments, as the Court of Appeals recognized. *See* Opinion, pp. 24-25.

First American's filings and pleadings filed in the trial court and Court of Appeals were premised on the coverage dispute and the parties' disagreement as to whether mold-related damages at the residence were caused by the covered water loss event. The insurance claim that First American and its agents were adjusting involved the covered water loss event. First American concluded that the mold damage in the home was not part of or caused by that covered loss.

Plaintiff's argument that First American somehow "admitted" that there was coverage for the mold damage claimed by plaintiff, by referring to the covered water loss in the course of handling and adjusting the covered water loss, is simply nonsensical. Certainly, plaintiff does not identify any issue that warrants Supreme Court review.

Issues 6 and 7: The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled that Substantial Evidence Supported the Trial Court's Factual Findings.

Both Issues 6 and 7, as enumerated by plaintiff, raise the same issue. Plaintiff argues that the trial court's factual rulings, including the conclusion that the mold damage was not caused by the October 2017 water loss event, were wrong. In making that argument, plaintiff relies on and cites her own testimony and the testimony of her own witnesses.

Plaintiff concedes that there was evidence submitted at trial supporting the trial court's findings, but claims that her evidence was stronger. First, the evidence supporting the trial court's findings—including the testimony of multiple witness and numerous reports establishing the presence of mold in the home before 2017—is far more extensive than plaintiff admits.⁶ The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court's

⁶ See, e.g., CP 2338-39, PP 3-7 (discussing the reports and prior claims documenting mold in the home prior to 2017).

finding were supported by substantial evidence in the trial court record. Opinion, pp. 25-26.

Second, as the Court of Appeals emphasized, appellate courts must defer to the trier of fact regarding issues of witness credibility, conflicting testimony, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), *abrogated on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Neither the Court of Appeals nor this Court should substitute its own opinion regarding the weight of evidence for the trial court's conclusions, as long as there is substantial evidence supporting the trial court's conclusions, as there is in this matter.

Plaintiff does not demonstrate that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of review. Plaintiff's disagreement with the trial court's findings is not grounds for reversal. Nor is it grounds for Supreme Court review. The Court should deny

plaintiff's request that it review and reverse the trial court's factual findings.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

A petition for review should be granted only:

"(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

RAP 13.4(b). Plaintiff fails to demonstrate that any of those grounds for review are satisfied or even implicated, in her Amended Petition for Review.

Plaintiff shows no conflict between the Court of Appeals'
Opinion and any Washington Court of Appeals or Supreme
Court case law. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals' Opinion
properly applies Washington case law, statutes, and regulations.
Although plaintiff argues that insurance claims, generally, pose

an issue of public interest, she makes no showing that the issues that she identifies for review would impact the public at large.

Plaintiff shows no error in the Court of Appeals' reasoning, standards, or application of Washington law.

In summary, plaintiff fails to establish that she is entitled to Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, the Court should deny plaintiff's Amended Petition for Review.

Pursuant to RAP 18.17, this document is proportionately spaced using Times New Roman 14-point font and contains - 4195 words, excluding the caption, tables, signature blocks, and certificate of service (word count by Microsoft Word), in compliance with the word count limitations in RAP 18.17(c)(10).

/s/ Robert S. May

Robert S. May, WSBA No. 36116

Rmay@kilmerlaw.com

Holly E. Pettit, WSBA No. 46424

hpettit@kilmerlaw.com

2701 NW Vaughn Street, Suite 780

Portland, Oregon 97210

Phone No.: 503-224-0055

Dated: November 8, 2023